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The Clay City National Bank Building is located on Sixth Avenue (or Hwy. 15), the main 
thoroughfare in the small community of Clay City. The town is in a geographical tran­ 
sitional area between the rolling hills of the Bluegrass and the mountains of eastern 
Kentucky. The building faces north toward scattered houses and a supermarket across 
the highway. To the west of the bank is a one-story frame commercial building; to the 
east toward the rear of the bank is a mobile home and a brick commercial building.

The building appears virtually unchanged since its construction in 1890 at a total cost of 
$8000 (see photo 1). It is a two-story brick structure, 28 feet by 65 feet, on a lot 90 feet 
by 120 feet. The building is three bays wide, with the facade dominated by large paired 
windows in the center (see photo 2). The two front doors flanking the square first-story 
window are arched with brick voussoirs and stone keystones and impost blocks, as are the 
second-floor windows. Between the bays are narrow pilaster strips terminating at the 
top in a corbelled cornice, which is broken upward by an extension of the mid-section. 
The two side sections of the cornice were originally capped by a balustrade,later removed 
and filled in with brick to create a low gable effect. The facade was further ornamented 
by a row of molded or pressed bricks or terracotta between the first and second stories. 
The center section of this trim has since been removed, but the remaining portions are 
painted white to accentuate them.

The east side of the building contains six arched bays with voussoirs and keystones simi­ 
lar to those of the facade, with single .pilasters enclosing each window (see photoS). Two 
doors located at the far south end are separated by paired pilasters. The southernmost 
entrance leads into offices upstairs and the second entrance leads to the back area of the 
bank once used as the post office. The well-worn stone step underneath the post-office 
door reveals the large amount of traffic using the side entrance. The south end wall con­ 
tains two arched bays on the second story. The west side of the building once overlooked 
a water-power canal called "the race" , one of two canals which connected the Red River 
north and south which snaked around the town. The race served as the power source for 
a grist mill and iron furnace located nearby. With no particularly attractive view to the 
west, few windows were installed on that side (see photo2).

The interior of the first floor consists of one large room that includes approximately 
three-quarters of the total floor space. Centered at the rear is the vault room of approxi­ 
mately eight feet in height, with a wide cornice running across the front (see photo 4) . It 
still retains the ornate Italianate metal doorframe and heavy vault door. A partition with 
a doorway and glass panels on either side extends from the vault to the side walls. At the 
right rear of the back room are two doors, one leading to a closet, the other to the upstairs 
rooms. Almost all the original woodwork remains, including a dado, and door and window 
frames accented by depressed concentric circles in the corner blocks and keystones.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Located on the main street running through the small community of Clay City, the Clay City 
National Bank Building is one of the few remaining structures testifying to those days when 
the town claimed the second largest lumbering industry in the world. The bank was con­ 
structed in 1890 by the Kentucky Union Land Company, a subsidiary of the Kentucky Union 
Railway, which owned and developed a large part of the property in the then newly incorp­ 
orated town of Clay City. The bank well represents this era of boomdays and boomtowns 
when coal and the region's vast timber resources lured developers and railroads, and within 
a relatively short period of time, resulted in vast changes to the landscape and to the small 
towns in the late 19th and early 20th centuries.

The area now known as Powell County has never been heavily populated. Although early 
explored by such famous figures as Thomas Walker, Christopher Gist, and Daniel Boone, 
who remarked on the natural beauty of the terrain (particularly the region of the Red River 
Gorge), the rugged countryside did not attract as large number of settlers as did the fer­ 
tile lands of the Bluegrass to the immediate west. There was, however, a supply of iron 
ore, limestone, and access to large quantities of timber for the manufacture of iron. The 
Red River Iron Works, the first mining and smelter industry of the "entire western country," 
was constructed on the south bank of the great northwest bend of the Red River in what is now 
the city limits of-Clay,,City. The name first associated with the site was the Great North 
Bend, and later referred to as Collins Forge, Smith and Clark Iron Furnace, Iron Works and 
Red River Iron Works. It was not until the 1880s that the town came to be called Clay City.

By the mid-19th century, however, difficulty in getting the iron to market and discoveries 
of richer iron ore deposits elsewhere caused a decline in the Kentucky's iron industry and 
it was not until the latter part of the 19th century that eastern Kentucky again lured specu­ 
lators, attracted by the great financial possibilities in its coal and timber resources. With 
the railroad, there was now a way in which to exploit these resources.

In 1884 a spur line was constructed by the Kentucky Union Railroad Company, connecting 
Clay City with the Chesapeake and Ohio line in Clark County. Two years later, the Red 
River Lumber Company was established in Clay City in 1886. The mill, the town's first, 
was to claim deeds to nearly 4000 acres in the North Fork area. It was during this

(continued)
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period, in 1884, that the Clay City Bank was founded. The city was incorporated in the same 
year. It was not until 1889, however, under the Kentucky Union Land Company ownership 
that the bank was actually built. (The bank's charter first listed it as the East Kentucky 
National Bank, then the Bank of Clay City, and finally, the Clay City National Bank.) An 
amount totalling $8, 000 was approved for the construction of the building and the purchase of 
lots. Operation began in 1890. Original stockholders include Frances Dighton Carley 
(notorious Louisville marketer for Standard Oil Company products in the southeast in the 
1870s and'80s)» John English Green, Leon Taylor Rosengarten, St. John Boyle, Arthur Gary, 
all of Louisville, and Grant Green, Jr., of Clay City (Pusateri, p. 346). The officers and 
organizers of the bank clearly indicate a close relationship with the lumber industry. Charles 
Scott, the bank's first president, was also the general passenger and freight agent for the 
Kentucky Union Railroad Co., and its branches. President from 1893-95 was Floyd Day, part 
owner of the Clay City Tie and Stave Co. and also associated with the Swann-Day Lumber 
Company (successor to the Kentucky Union Land Co.) (Russell, Bank Records).

The bank's prosperity reflected that of the lumber business, which reached its peak in the 
1890s. A marked decline in assets and deposits was noted in 1896 and, it is believed, it was 
at this point that Kentucky Union withdrew from the bank operation. (The railway, in deep 
financial difficulty, had reorganized in 1894 and was renamed the Lexington & Eastern. It 
continued to decline, however, and was purchased in 1910 by the L & N.) M. H. Courtney of 
the Center Lumber Co. entered as president and was followed by a steady period of growth 
until the recession of 1909. A change in management then resulted, with Frank B. Russell 
succeeding as president. The bank continued its steady growth, reaching a peak from 1916- 
1925. Although the bank was able to stabilize its assets after the crash of 1929, moderate 
decline continued until World War II. By this time the lumber industry had all but ended; 
the railroad had discontinued service in 1940. A request for liquidation resulted and was 
granted in 1944.

The first floor of the building was used by the bank, with a small section to the rear of the vault 
and separated by partitions used for over forty years by the post office. The second floor served 
as office space, and later as living quarters for one of the bank's officers. From 1914 to 
1967 the building was used first as a hardware store, and later as a general merchandise 
store, a used clothing and furniture store. Since 1967 the building has housed the Red River 
Historical Museum.

Aside from its historical association with the development of Clay City and Powell County, 
the bank is one of the few nineteenth-century buildings to survive in Clay City and the most 
substantial early structure remaining on the main thoroughfare of the town.
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